CHAPTER THREE

Spectroscopy of linear and circular polarized light with the exact semiclassical light–matter interaction

Marjan Khamesian^a, Ignacio Fdez. Galván^a, Mickaël G. Delcey^b, Lasse Kragh Sørensen^{c,*}, Roland Lindh^{a,d,*}

^aDepartment of Chemistry – BMC, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

^bDepartment of Chemistry – Ångström, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

^cKTH, School of Engineering Sciences in Chemistry, Biotechnology and Health (CBH), Theoretical Chemistry and Biology, Stockholm, Sweden

^dUppsala Center of Computational Chemistry – UC₃, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

*Corresponding authors:, e-mail address: lasse.kragh.soerensen@gmail.com; roland.lindh@kemi.uu.se

Contents

1.	Introduction	40
2.	Transition moments	42
	2.1 Transition moment of linearly polarized light	42
	2.2 Transition moment of elliptically polarized light	44
3.	General oscillator and rotatory strengths of the Jones vector	46
	3.1 General oscillator strength of the Jones vector	47
	3.2 General rotatory strength of the Jones vector	47
4.	The multipole expansion approximation	49
	4.1 The electric-dipole term	49
	4.2 The electric-quadrupole and magnetic-dipole terms	50
5.	Length gauge	52
6.	Selection rules	57
7.	Isotropically averaged oscillator and rotatory strengths	60
8.	Evaluation of the integrals for the transition moments	65
	8.1 Faster evaluation of the integrals for the transition moments	69
9.	Connection with experiments	70
10.	Summary	73
Ack	nowledgments	73
References		74

Abstract

We present the theory and the analytical and numerical solution for the calculation of the oscillator and rotatory strengths of molecular systems using a state-specific formalism. For a start, this is done in the context of the exact semiclassical light–matter interaction in association with electronic wave functions expanded in a Gaussian basis. The reader is guided through the standard approximations of the field, e.g., the use of commutators, truncation of Taylor expansions, and the implications of these are discussed in parallel. Expressions for the isotropically averaged values are derived, recovering the isotropic oscillator strength in terms of the transition electric-dipole moment, and the isotropic rotatory strength in terms of the transition electric-dipole and magnetic-dipole moments. This chapter gives a detailed description of the computation of the integrals over the plane wave in association with Gaussian one-particle basis sets. Finally, a brief description is given of how the computed oscillator and rotatory strengths are related to the quantities commonly used and discussed in experimental studies.

1. Introduction

Quantum chemistry has, by improving theoretical methods, striven to achieve quantitative accuracy in simulating chemical and physical phenomena of molecular systems. One of these challenges has been that of reproducing experimental spectroscopic data, both in the optical (UV/Vis) and X-ray energy range. For the last 30-40 years the advancement of ab initio simulations has been significant and today the energies of electronic transitions can be predicted with an impressive accuracy. However, there are still issues with respect to the quantitative, and also the qualitative, accuracy of predicted oscillator and rotatory strengths (i.e., the intensities) of these transitions [1]. Over the years, research has been assessing the role of using the dipole-moment approximation in the length or momentum gauge (see, for example, Refs. [2-10]), the impact of different basis sets, and the role of origin independence [11]. The latter has in particular been analyzed in terms of methods based on multipole expansions grouped in ways such that the result should be origin independent-which can be achieved if all terms are expressed in the same gauge [12]. Recent independent developments have demonstrated that the integrals associated with the exact semiclassical operator are trivial to express and incorporate in standard quantum chemistry program packages [13, 14]. This offers new insight and potential to investigate the impact and effects of the dipole approximation, and others, which have been used in the last century.

In the past few years, our group, and others, has been involved in some of these developments [11-17]. In this endeavor, it has from time to time felt that the literature has been inadequate, incomplete, or not adapted to modern formalism as it is used in the ab initio electronic structure community. Hence, in this chapter, a somewhat detailed description of the theory and computer implementation details of simulating oscillator and rotatory strengths, as it stands today, will be presented. This will be done in the frame of a state-specific theory. That is, not using the so-called response theory [18] to evaluate the transition properties but rather a state-interaction formalism [19, 20]. As a complement to this chapter, the reading of the review by Pecul and Ruud on the matter on computing optical rotation and electronic circular dichroism is recommended [1]. In that report, the dependence of the computed rotatory strength, evaluated in the conventional electric-dipole-magnetic-dipole approximation, is discussed with respect to the selection of basis sets, the inclusion of electron correlation, issues of the equilibrium molecular structure, role of vibrations, and finally solvent effects. In this presentation of the field, as originally described by Rosenfeld [21], the workhorse equations and their origin will be presented, as used in a state-specific formalism. Initially the relationship between the oscillator strength and the shape of the time-independent part of the perturbation added to the Hamiltonian will be discussed. The starting expression for the time-dependent perturbation will be the semiclassical operator for the matter-light interaction-the interaction between the electromagnetic field of a photon and the electrons in a molecule. At this point, the concept of general polarization-as expressed in, for example, the special cases of linear or circular polarized light-will be introduced in the concept of Jones vectors describing the polarization [22]. The operator, describing the lightmatter interaction, is added to the one-component Schrödinger equation creating an ad hoc two-component Pauli formalism. The reader will then be guided through the various standard approximations that are commonly used. These are, for example, truncated multipole expansions of the exponential expression for the light-matter interaction, and the use of commutators to change gauge to a convenient form. This chapter will discuss in some detail the impact of these standard procedures along with common misconceptions and choice of proper gauges. Furthermore, the use of length vs velocity (or momentum) gauge and the selection rules will be analyzed. Expressions for isotropically averaged oscillator and rotatory strengths, and the integrals required for the exact expression of the light-matter interaction will be derived. In relationship to the latter it will be discussed how these

calculations can be done in an efficient way in association with X-ray spectroscopy simulations. Before the concluding summary a brief section will outline the connection between the computed properties and experiments.

2. Transition moments

Transition intensities, oscillator and rotatory strengths are computed from transition moments, the values of which are closely related to the polarization of the incident light. In this section, the expressions for the transition moment, in the special cases of linear and elliptically polarized light, will be presented. These equations will facilitate the derivation of the expressions for the oscillator strength, and, in the latter case, an expression for the rotatory strength will also be presented. The case of general polarization will be treated in the next section.

2.1 Transition moment of linearly polarized light

We present here a derivation of transition moment and oscillator strength for linearly polarized light, which is just a shortened version of the corresponding section in Ref. [12], noting that the authors in that reference used Gaussian units, while we use SI (or commensurate) units.

If we represent the electromagnetic field as a monochromatic, linearly polarized plane wave with scalar and vector field (the Coulomb gauge):

$$\phi(\mathbf{r},t) = 0$$

$$A(\mathbf{r},t) = -A_0 \cos{(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r} - 2\pi\nu t)} \mathcal{E}$$
(1)

the electric and magnetic fields are given by:

$$\boldsymbol{E}(\boldsymbol{r},t) = A_0 \sin(\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r} - 2\pi\nu t) 2\pi\nu \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}$$
$$\boldsymbol{B}(\boldsymbol{r},t) = A_0 \sin(\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r} - 2\pi\nu t) (\boldsymbol{k} \times \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}})$$

Here **k** is the wave vector, with norm $|\mathbf{k}| = \frac{2\pi\nu}{c}$ and pointing in the direction of propagation, while $\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}$ is a unit vector orthogonal to **k**, representing the polarization direction.

This electromagnetic field can be introduced in the molecular Hamiltonian. For weak fields, terms quadratic in A_0 can be neglected, and the effect of the external field can be separated from the unperturbed Hamiltonian \hat{H}_0 as:

$$\hat{H} = \hat{H}_0 + \hat{U}(t)$$
$$\hat{U}(t) = -\frac{e}{m_e} \sum_i \boldsymbol{A}(\boldsymbol{r}_i, t) \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_i - \frac{g_e e}{2m_e} \sum_i \boldsymbol{B}(\boldsymbol{r}_i, t) \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{s}}_i,$$

where the index i refers to the electrons. Substituting the expressions for A and B, and the sine and cosine as exponentials, we get

$$\hat{U}(t) = \hat{U} \exp\left(-i2\pi\nu t\right) + \hat{U}^* \exp\left(i2\pi\nu t\right)$$
$$\hat{U} = \frac{eA_0}{2m_e} \sum_{i} \left[\exp\left(i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}_i\right) (\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}\cdot\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_i) + i\frac{g_e}{2} \exp\left(i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}_i\right) (\mathbf{k}\times\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}})\cdot\hat{\boldsymbol{s}}_i \right]$$

with \hat{p} and \hat{s} being the electronic momentum and spin operators. Under the assumption that the system is initially in state 0 and that the perturbation is turned on instantly at t = 0 (sudden approximation), we can apply what Fermi called "golden rule #2" to obtain the transition rate to state *n*:

$$\Gamma_{0n}(\nu) = \frac{2\pi}{\hbar} |\langle 0|\hat{U}|n\rangle|^2 \rho(h\nu)$$

$$= \frac{A_0^2}{4\hbar^2} |T_{0n}|^2 \delta(\nu - \nu_{0n}),$$
(2)

where the density of states ρ is replaced with a Dirac delta function. The transition moments T_{0n} are thus defined as:

$$T_{0n} = \frac{e}{m_{\rm e}} \sum_{i} \left\langle 0 \left| \exp\left(\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_{i}\right) (\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i}) + \mathrm{i}\frac{g_{\rm e}}{2} \exp\left(\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_{i}\right) [(\boldsymbol{k} \times \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{s}}_{i}] \left| n \right\rangle \quad (3)$$

with dimensions of charge times velocity. Note that T_{0n} is, in general, a complex-valued scalar, that depends on the \mathbf{k} and $\mathbf{\mathcal{E}}$ vectors. Here the first term expresses the orbital angular interaction with the electromagnetic field of the photon, whereas the second term is the explicit interaction of the individual intrinsic spin of the electrons with the same electromagnetic field. By applying the identity $(\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{\mathcal{E}}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{s}}_i = \mathbf{\mathcal{E}} \cdot (\hat{\mathbf{s}}_i \times \mathbf{k})$, T_{0n} can also be written as:

$$T_{0n} = \frac{e}{m_{\rm e}} \, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}} \cdot \sum_{i} \left\langle 0 \right| \exp\left(\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_{i}\right) \left[\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i} + \mathrm{i}\frac{g_{\rm e}}{2} (\hat{\boldsymbol{s}}_{i} \times \boldsymbol{k}) \right] \left| n \right\rangle \tag{4}$$

The transition rate is obviously dependent on the strength of the field, A_0 . A more intrinsic property of the particular transition is its cross section, which is obtained by dividing Γ_{0n} by the flux (photons per time, per area). The intensity of the wave (energy per time, per area) can be calculated as the time average of the Poynting vector:

$$\boldsymbol{S} = \frac{1}{\mu_0} (\boldsymbol{E} \times \boldsymbol{B})$$
$$I(\nu) = \nu \int_0^{1/\nu} |\boldsymbol{S}| \, \mathrm{d}t = 2\pi^2 c \varepsilon_0 \nu^2 A_0^2,$$

where the integration is done over one period. Therefore, the frequencyintegrated cross section is given by:

$$\sigma_{0n}^{\nu} = \int \frac{\Gamma_{0n}(\nu)h\nu}{I(\nu)} \,\mathrm{d}\nu = \frac{|T_{0n}|^2}{2c\varepsilon_0h\nu_{0n}}$$

and this result can be compared with the cross section of a classical electron oscillator:

$$\sigma_{\rm clas}^{\nu} = \frac{e^2}{4m_{\rm e}c\varepsilon_0} \tag{5}$$

defining the dimensionless oscillator strength (f) as the quotient:

$$f_{0n} = \frac{\sigma_{0n}^{\nu}}{\sigma_{\text{clas}}^{\nu}} = \frac{2m_{\text{e}}}{e^2 \Delta E_{0n}} |T_{0n}|^2 \tag{6}$$

and this is still an expression dependent on the specific \mathbf{k} and $\mathbf{\mathcal{E}}$ vectors of the electromagnetic field, but not on A_0 .

2.2 Transition moment of elliptically polarized light

More generally, the electromagnetic field of a photon, moving in the direction described by the wave vector, \mathbf{k} , is carried by two perpendicular polarization directions, as described by the unit vectors \mathcal{E}_1 and \mathcal{E}_2 . For these vectors holds the relation $\mathcal{E}_2 = (\mathbf{k} \times \mathcal{E}_1)/|\mathbf{k}|$. In general, the amplitude and phase of the electromagnetic field in these two polarization directions differ. A general normalized polarization vector in terms of a Jones vector is expressed as

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}} = \cos\left(\boldsymbol{\psi}\right)\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1} + \sin\left(\boldsymbol{\psi}\right)\exp\left(\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{\eta}\right)\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2},\tag{7}$$

where ψ accounts for the relative amplitude of the electromagnetic field in the two polarization directions, and η describes their relative phase.

This general polarization easily reduces to the linear polarization for $\eta = 0, \pi$, where the two waves are in phase. Here η defines the starting polarization direction along the direction defined by the angle ψ relative to \mathcal{E}_1 . We here see that if ψ is equal to 0 or π then the plane wave will be polarized along \mathcal{E}_1 while for ψ equal to $\pm \frac{\pi}{2}$ the polarization will be along \mathcal{E}_2 .

Regular circular polarized light appears for $\eta = \pm \frac{\pi}{2}$ with $\psi = \pm \frac{\pi}{4}, \pm \frac{3\pi}{4}$ since here the two plane waves are exactly out of phase with the same amplitude. There are of course only two types of circularly polarized light, so the different choices of η and ψ will always give either left or right-circularly polarized light, but with different initial polarization directions hence the eight combinations. More complicated pulses like elliptically polarized light, where polarization amplitudes are different, simply come by choosing $\eta = \pm \frac{\pi}{2}$ and $\psi \neq \pm \frac{\pi}{4}, \pm \frac{3\pi}{4}$.

The total transition moment is similarly given by:

$$T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\psi},\boldsymbol{\eta}) = \cos\left(\boldsymbol{\psi}\right)T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_1) + \sin\left(\boldsymbol{\psi}\right)\exp\left(\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{\eta}\right)T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_2),\tag{8}$$

where $T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_1)$ and $T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_2)$ are obtained according to Eq. (3). We here immediately see that if the transition moment in Eq. (3) for a simple plane wave can be calculated then it is trivial to extend it to any elliptically polarized wave described by Eq. (7).

As it was said before, the transition moment is a complex quantity, but we note in passing that one should be careful when identifying which are the real and imaginary components of the transition moment—an entity which is not an observable; the square norm of the transition moment is real and it is an observable. Additionally, the wave functions are only known to within a complex factor. Hence, it is strictly impossible to uniquely identify the real and complex parts of the transition moment. For all practical purposes the transition moment can be structured into the form

$$T_{0n} = \exp\left(\mathrm{i}\alpha\right) \left(T_{0n}^{\mathrm{o}} + \mathrm{i}T_{0n}^{\mathrm{e}}\right),\tag{9}$$

where T^{e} and T^{o} , the even and odd components are those of the Taylor expansion of $\exp(i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r}_{i})$ (see Eq. (16) in which the even terms are real and the odd terms are imaginary). Since in Eq. (3) the exponential is

multiplied by an imaginary quantity (\hat{p}_i or i), their contribution to the total transition moment is real for the odd component and imaginary for the even one. As we are interested in the square norm of the transition moment, we will ignore the complex factor in the expression above, and when we mention the real and imaginary parts of the transition moment we are referring, respectively, to the odd and even terms in the Taylor expansion of the exponential expression.

Circular dichroism spectra are obtained as the difference in absorption between left and right-circularly polarized light. It is straightforward to define the difference in transition rates, or oscillator strengths

$$\Delta\Gamma_{0n}(\nu) = \Gamma_{0n}^{L}(\nu) - \Gamma_{0n}^{R}(\nu) = \frac{A_{0}^{2}}{4\hbar^{2}} (|T_{0n}^{L}|^{2} - |T_{0n}^{R}|^{2}) \delta(\nu - \nu_{0n})$$

$$\Delta f_{0n} = f_{0n}^{L} - f_{0n}^{R} = \frac{2m_{e}}{e^{2}\Delta E_{0n}} (|T_{0n}^{L}|^{2} - |T_{0n}^{R}|^{2}),$$

where the superscripts L and R refer to left and right circular polarization. This difference is commonly reported as a "rotatory strength," R_{0n} , for which the exact expression will be given in Section 9, but for now it is enough to assume:

$$R_{0n} \propto (|T_{0n}^{\rm L}|^2 - |T_{0n}^{\rm R}|^2)$$

⁹ 3. General oscillator and rotatory strengths of the Jones vector

The aim of this section is to give a general expression based on the Jones vector [22] and then to connect this to the expression from the plane-wave transition moment to show how easy it is to implement a general transition moment once the transition moment from a plane wave can be calculated.

The quantities relevant for oscillator and rotatory strengths from the transition moment in Eq. (8) based on the Jones vector in Eq. (7) will here be formulated in terms of transition moments of a pair of orthogonal plane waves. In this way we will demonstrate how simple it is to implement the effect of a general wave.

3.1 General oscillator strength of the Jones vector

If we use the transition moment of the Jones vector from Eq. (8): in the transition rate, from Eq. (2),

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{0n}^{J} &= \frac{A_{0}^{2}}{4\hbar^{2}} |T_{0n}^{J}|^{2} \delta(\nu - \nu_{0n}) \\ |T_{0n}^{J}|^{2} &= [\cos(\psi) T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{1}) + \sin(\psi) \exp(i\eta) T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{2})] \\ &\times [\cos(\psi) T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{1}) + \sin(\psi) \exp(i\eta) T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{2})]^{*} \\ &= \cos^{2}(\psi) |T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{1})|^{2} + \sin^{2}(\psi) |T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{2})|^{2} \\ &+ \cos(\psi) \sin(\psi) [T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{1}) \exp(-i\eta) T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{2})^{*} + \exp(i\eta) T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{2}) T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{1})^{*}] \\ &= \cos^{2}(\psi) |T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{1})|^{2} + \sin^{2}(\psi) |T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{2})|^{2} \\ &+ 2\cos(\psi) \sin(\psi) [\cos(\eta) \operatorname{Re}(T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{1}) T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{2})^{*}) \\ &+ \sin(\eta) \operatorname{Im}(T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{1}) T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{2})^{*})] \end{split}$$
(10)

four distinct terms appear. The first two terms in Eq. (10) are the regular oscillator strength for a plane wave in the two polarization directions \mathcal{E}_1 and \mathcal{E}_2 multiplied by the square of their amplitude, respectively. These two regular terms are independent of the phase difference η between them. The last two terms in Eq. (10) are formed by the cross terms between the two polarization directions and are dependent on both amplitude ratio and the phase difference between the two plane waves. The first of these terms in Eq. (10) depends on the real part, and the second on the imaginary part of the product between the transition moments. From these last products it is therefore obvious that all terms in Eq. (10) are real and that the sum is positive. Since the phase η only appears in the last two terms in Eq. (10), only these two terms can give nonzero contributions to a difference spectrum like the circular dichroism.

Since the relative amplitude and phase, determined by ψ and η , respectively, are input parameters that form a certain linear combination of transition moments of plane waves, as shown in Eq. (10), calculating the oscillator strength of any pulse is simple if one can calculate the transition moment for a plane wave. The calculation of the transition moment of a plane wave in a Gaussian basis set is shown in Section 8.

3.2 General rotatory strength of the Jones vector

The rotatory strength is proportional to the differential transition rate and arising from the measurement of two different pulses with the same direction

of propagation. Taking the difference in the square of the transition moments between two Jones vectors from Eq. (10)

$$|T_{0n}^{J}(\boldsymbol{\psi},\boldsymbol{\eta})|^{2} - |T_{0n}^{J'}(\boldsymbol{\psi}',\boldsymbol{\eta}')|^{2} = (\cos^{2}(\boldsymbol{\psi}) - \cos^{2}(\boldsymbol{\psi}'))|T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1})|^{2} + (\sin^{2}(\boldsymbol{\psi}) - \sin^{2}(\boldsymbol{\psi}'))|T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2})|^{2} + 2\cos(\boldsymbol{\psi})\sin(\boldsymbol{\psi})[\cos(\boldsymbol{\eta})\operatorname{Re}(T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1})T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2})^{*})] + \sin(\boldsymbol{\eta})\operatorname{Im}(T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1})T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2})^{*})] - 2\cos(\boldsymbol{\psi}')\sin(\boldsymbol{\psi}')[\cos(\boldsymbol{\eta}')\operatorname{Re}(T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1})T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2})^{*})] + \sin(\boldsymbol{\eta}')\operatorname{Im}(T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1})T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2})^{*})]$$
(11)

we see that a difference spectrum can be obtained in many different ways.

For pulses with equal amplitudes, $\psi = \psi'$, we see that only the relative phase matters

$$|T_{0n}^{J}(\psi,\eta)|^{2} - |T_{0n}^{J'}(\psi,\eta')|^{2} = 2\cos(\psi)\sin(\psi) \times \left[(\cos(\eta) - \cos(\eta'))\operatorname{Re}(T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{1})T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{2})^{*}) + (\sin(\eta) - \sin(\eta'))\operatorname{Im}(T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{1})T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{2})^{*})\right]$$

and that there will be an absolute maximum in the difference from the relative phase when $\eta' = \eta + \pi$ for a given (ψ, η)

$$|T_{0n}^{J}(\psi,\eta)|^{2} - |T_{0n}^{J'}(\psi,\eta+\pi)|^{2} = 4\cos(\psi)\sin(\psi) \\ \times [\cos(\eta)\operatorname{Re}(T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{1})T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{2})^{*}) + \sin(\eta)\operatorname{Im}(T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{1})T_{0n}(\mathcal{E}_{2})^{*})]$$
(12)

and zero when $\eta = \eta'$. The difference will of course have a maximum when the two plane waves are of equal amplitude, which is at $\psi = \pm \frac{\pi}{4}, \pm \frac{3\pi}{4}$. Setting $\eta = \frac{\pi}{2}$ and using the amplitude ratio for the maximum, the regular circular dichroism dependence on the transition matrix elements appears when taking the difference between the transition rates from Eq. (10)

$$(\Gamma_{0n}^{J} - \Gamma_{0n}^{J'})_{\text{circ}} = \frac{A_{0}^{2}}{2\hbar^{2}} \operatorname{Im}(T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1})T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2})^{*})\delta(\nu - \nu_{0n}).$$
(13)

Furthermore, we see that with elliptically polarized light the circular dichroism spectrum from Eq. (13) can be reproduced but with lower rotatory strength since $\psi \neq \pm \frac{\pi}{4}, \pm \frac{3\pi}{4}$. Taking $\eta = 0$ we see a difference between two plane polarized waves with perpendicular polarization directions known as linear dichroism or diattenuation

$$(\Gamma_{0n}^{J} - \Gamma_{0n}^{J'})_{\rm lin} = \frac{A_0^2}{2\hbar^2} \operatorname{Re}(T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_1) T_{0n}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_2)^*) \delta(\nu - \nu_{0n}).$$
(14)

The difference between the two plane polarized waves in Eq. (14) will, however, be zero for isotropically averaged systems and is therefore best suited for oriented systems.

While there are many ways a difference spectrum can be obtained from Eq. (11), the linear and circular dichroism spectra in Eqs. (13) and (14) are the most prominent and give the clearest signal and interpretation since the terms in Eq. (11) are clearly separated and the difference is at a maximum.

4. The multipole expansion approximation

Here we will start to introduce the standard approximations so that we will ultimately arrive at the prevailing standard expression of the oscillator and rotatory strengths. The first approximation is to ignore the direct coupling of the electromagnetic field of the photon with the intrinsic spin of the electrons, something which, probably, is fine for singlet states. However, one could possibly suspect that this would be of some significance for systems with transition metals in which higher multiplicities—open-shell structure—are predominant. Thus, we approximate Eq. (3) by

$$T_{0n} \approx \frac{e}{m_{\rm e}} \sum_{i} \langle 0 | \exp\left(\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_{i}\right) (\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i}) | n \rangle$$
(15)

We proceed further by approximating the exponential operator using a Taylor expansion, truncated at a specific order of the wave vector,

$$\exp(\mathbf{i}\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}_i) = 1 + \mathbf{i}(\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}_i) - \frac{1}{2!}(\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}_i)^2 - \mathbf{i}\frac{1}{3!}(\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}_i)^3 + \cdots$$
(16)

Here we note an automatic separation of the components of the operator into even/real and odd/imaginary terms. In this respect, we will have that the leading terms of the two components of the transition moment are identified as (*i*) the electric-dipole term, and (*ii*) the combined electric-quadrupole and magnetic-dipole terms. Let us dwell a bit on these two terms before we continue the analysis of the oscillator and rotatory strengths.

4.1 The electric-dipole term

The electric-dipole term of the transition moment—the leading term of the even parts—is computed (in velocity gauge) as

$$T_{0n}^{\mu^{p}}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) = \frac{e}{m_{e}}\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}} \cdot \sum_{i} \langle 0|\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i}|n\rangle$$

Assuming local potentials and using the hypervirial theorem [23]

$$[\mathbf{r}_i, \hat{H}_0] = \frac{\mathrm{i}\hbar}{m_\mathrm{e}} \hat{\mathbf{p}}_i \tag{17}$$

we can recast the expression for the electric-dipole term into the length gauge

$$T_{0n}^{\mu^{p}}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) = T_{0n}^{\mu}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) = \mathrm{i}\frac{\Delta E_{0n}}{\hbar}\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}} \cdot \langle 0|\hat{\boldsymbol{\mu}}|n\rangle, \qquad (18)$$

where $\hat{\mu} = -e \sum_i \hat{r}_i$ is the dipole-moment operator in length gauge. Since the Hamiltonian is unique only up to a gauge transformation there is not a single preferred Hamiltonian and the Hamiltonian in the length and velocity gauge are in that sense completely equal. In finite basis sets, the gauges are, however, not equal and neither are the electric-dipole terms in Eq. (18), although one gauge cannot be said to be an approximation of the other gauge. The choice of gauge should therefore be performed before any approximations are introduced. This point is discussed further in Section 5 with respect to the transformation to the length gauge. Since we in this section follow the standard derivation the multipole expansion is performed first and gauge transformation second even if it should be the other way around.

4.2 The electric-quadrupole and magnetic-dipole terms

These terms, due to the first-order contribution of the Taylor expansion the leading term of the odd parts—of the exponential operator with respect to the wave vector, is in its raw form expressed as

$$T_{0n}^{(1)}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) = \frac{e}{m_{\rm e}} \sum_{i} \langle 0 | \mathbf{i} (\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_{i}) (\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i}) | n \rangle$$

This term can be recast into a symmetric and an antisymmetric term by the following substitution,

$$(\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_{i})(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i}) = \frac{1}{2}[(\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_{i})(\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) + (\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i})(\boldsymbol{r}_{i} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}})] + \frac{1}{2}[(\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_{i})(\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) - (\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i})(\boldsymbol{r}_{i} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}})]$$
(19)

The symmetric and antisymmetric parts will now be rearranged into the electric-quadrupole and magnetic-dipole terms, respectively. Following the same route as Bernadotte et al. [12] we express the contribution to

the transition moment from the electric-quadrupole term (using implicit Einstein summation for the Cartesian indices, α , β)

$$T_{0n}^{Q^{p}}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) = \frac{\mathrm{i}e}{2m_{\mathrm{e}}} \sum_{i} \langle 0|(\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_{i})(\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) + (\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i})(\boldsymbol{r}_{i} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}})|n\rangle$$
$$= \frac{\mathrm{i}e}{2m_{\mathrm{e}}} k_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{\beta} \sum_{i} \langle 0|r_{i,\alpha}\hat{p}_{i,\beta} + \hat{p}_{i,\alpha}r_{i,\beta}|n\rangle$$

Using the hypervirial theorem from Eq. (17), an alternative operator in length gauge can be expressed as

$$\hat{Q}_{\alpha,\beta} = -\frac{e}{2} \sum_{i} r_{i,\alpha} r_{i,\beta} + r_{i,\alpha} r_{i,\beta}$$

which for exact wave functions is equal to the electric-quadrupole operator in the velocity gauge

$$T_{0n}^{Q^{p}}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) = T_{0n}^{Q}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) = -\frac{\Delta E_{0n}}{\hbar} k_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{\beta} \langle 0 | \hat{Q}_{\alpha,\beta} | n \rangle$$
(20)

since the multipole expansions in the different gauges are termwise identical. In finite basis sets, the electric-quadrupole in the two gauges in Eq. (20) will differ.

For the antisymmetric term, we note that, since \mathcal{E} and \mathbf{k} are orthogonal, we may rewrite it as

$$(\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}_i)(\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_i\cdot\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}})-(\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_i)(\boldsymbol{r}_i\cdot\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}})=(\boldsymbol{k}\times\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}})(\boldsymbol{r}_i\times\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_i)$$

This gives that the transition moment due to the magnetic-dipole term is expressed as

$$T_{0n}^{m'}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) = \frac{\mathrm{i}e}{2m_{\mathrm{e}}} \sum_{i} \langle 0|(\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_{i})(\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) - (\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i})(\boldsymbol{r}_{i} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}})|n\rangle$$

$$= \frac{\mathrm{i}e}{2m_{e}} (\boldsymbol{k} \times \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) \sum_{i} \langle 0|(\boldsymbol{r}_{i} \times \hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i})|n\rangle$$

$$= -\mathrm{i}(\boldsymbol{k} \times \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) \langle 0|\hat{\boldsymbol{m}}'|n\rangle, \qquad (22)$$

where the orbital magnetic-dipole operator is defined as

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{m}}' = -\frac{e}{2m_{\rm e}} \sum_{i} (\boldsymbol{r}_i \times \hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_i)$$

Note that this term is now similar in shape to the term describing the interaction of the electromagnetic field of the photon and the intrinsic angular momentum—the spin—of the electrons (see the second term in the RHS of Eq. (3)). The term above, however, is associated with the orbital angular momentum— \hat{l} rather than \hat{s} . Furthermore, we note that this term is in the velocity gauge and not in the length gauge, even if it is normally incorrectly used in connection with the length gauge. The correct magnetic-dipole operator in the length gauge is given in Eq. (27) in Section 5.

We therefore have that

$$T_{0n}^{(1)}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) = T_{0n}^{Q^p}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) + T_{0n}^{m'}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}})$$

Higher order terms can be obtained in a similar fashion, but they are not necessary for our purposes here.

5. Length gauge

In the literature, the length gauge is often the favored choice when performing calculations. However, since the interaction in the minimal coupling picture with some external electromagnetic field (EMF) is most naturally written in the velocity gauge, a gauge transformation from the velocity to the length gauge is then needed. While any measurable result is gauge independent for the exact solution, this is not so once approximations in the basis set are performed. The choice of gauge like the Coulomb or Lorenz gauge, needed to fix the internal degrees of freedom in the EMF, or the choice between velocity and length gauge is therefore motivated by the numerical performance in a given gauge. The numerical performance of a given gauge, however, depends on the choice of basis set and correlation methods, which can visibly be demonstrated for simple systems [25]. The numerically best performing gauge in a given basis set for molecular systems may be strongly dependent on the nature of the transitions and can be very difficult to predict a priori. This means that it is not a given that the same gauge will be the best gauge for all transitions in a system.

For higher order multipole expansions it has been incorrectly stated that the oscillator strengths in the length gauge cannot be origin independent in finite basis sets [12, 15, 16]. This misconception arises from the incorrect derivation of the length gauge ubiquitous in the literature, which is in fact a mixed gauge,^a where the electric multipoles are in the length gauge, but the magnetic multipoles remain untransformed in the velocity gauge. Since the length and velocity gauge differ in finite basis sets, due to different

^a The mixed gauge is a bit of a misnomer since it cannot be related to a proper gauge via a gauge transformation and is therefore not a proper gauge.

integrands, the mixed gauge, not being a proper gauge, will not be origin independent since the origin independence of the multipole expansion relies on exact cancelation [11, 12, 15].

For the lowest order contribution to the rotatory strengths origin independence can be obtained in the mixed gauge by using London atomic orbitals (LAO) [1, 25-29] since LAOs are correct to first order in the external magnetic field, however, by using the correct length gauge the need for LAOs can be eliminated. The mixed gauge, as shown in Eq. (33), using LAOs is usually the favored choice when calculating CD spectra using response theory since it gives zero in the static limit in response theory whereas the velocity gives nonzero [30].

We here want to stress that the mixed gauge is not a proper gauge and that there is no gauge transformation relating the Hamiltonian in the mixed gauge to the Hamiltonians in the proper gauges like the velocity and length gauge. Not being a proper gauge also means that gauge invariant properties, like the origin independence, are no longer conserved once approximations are introduced.

We will here derive the expression for the transition moment of a plane wave in the length gauge using the hypervirial theorem [23], since all other types of waves can be expressed as simple linear combinations of plane waves. The time-independent and spin-free perturbation operator for a plane wave in the velocity gauge

$$\hat{U}_p = \frac{eA_0}{2m_{\rm e}} \sum_i \exp\left(\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_i\right) (\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_i)$$

can be transformed, using the hypervirial theorem from Eq. (17) to the length gauge

$$\hat{U}_{r} = -\frac{\mathrm{i}eA_{0}}{2\hbar} \sum_{i} \exp\left(\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}_{i}\right) (\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}\cdot\left[\boldsymbol{r}_{i},\hat{H}_{0}\right]).$$
(23)

The gauge transformation using the hypervirial theorem in Eq. (17), however, only holds for local potentials and exact wave functions. In the finite basis sets used in numerical calculations, the hypervirial theorem is only approximate. However, we cannot conclude that the velocity gauge will always outperform the length gauge or the other way around, since the result from the exact Hamiltonian is invariant to any gauge transformation and therefore no preferred Hamiltonian exists. Since the gauges differ in different basis sets and exact transformations between these finite basis sets are not possible to perform, the choice of gauge should therefore be made before any approximations or multipole expansions are invoked. While it may sound trivial that the gauge should be chosen before any approximations are carried out, this is a very common mistake in the scientific literature which we believe has led to a lot of confusion and erroneous conclusions about the length gauge, proper gauge transformations, and conservation of gauge invariant properties.

It is well known that the oscillator strengths for the exact expression in the velocity gauge are origin independent. The origin independence of the oscillator strengths can be easily shown by moving the origin from O to O + a

$$|T_{0n}(\mathbf{O}+\boldsymbol{a})|_{p}^{2} = \langle 0|\exp(\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k}\cdot(\boldsymbol{r}-\boldsymbol{a}))(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}\cdot\hat{\boldsymbol{p}})|n\rangle\langle n|\exp(-\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k}\cdot(\boldsymbol{r}-\boldsymbol{a}))(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}\cdot\hat{\boldsymbol{p}})|0\rangle$$

$$= \langle 0|\exp(\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{r})(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}\cdot\hat{\boldsymbol{p}})|n\rangle\langle n|\exp(-\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{r})(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}\cdot\hat{\boldsymbol{p}})|0\rangle\exp(\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k}\cdot(\boldsymbol{a}-\boldsymbol{a}))$$

$$= |T_{0n}(\mathbf{O})|^{2}.$$
(24)

Since the hypervirial theorem does not affect the origin independence of the oscillator strengths in the length gauge these are then also origin independent

$$|T_{0n}(\mathbf{O}+\boldsymbol{a})|_{r}^{2} = \frac{-m_{e}^{2}}{\hbar^{2}} \langle 0|\exp(\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k}\cdot(\boldsymbol{r}-\boldsymbol{a}))(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}\cdot[(\boldsymbol{r}-\boldsymbol{a}),\hat{H}_{0}])|n\rangle$$

$$\times \langle n|\exp(-\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k}\cdot(\boldsymbol{r}-\boldsymbol{a}))(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}\cdot[(\boldsymbol{r}-\boldsymbol{a}),\hat{H}_{0}])|0\rangle$$

$$= |T_{0n}(\mathbf{O})|^{2}$$
(25)

since H_0 commutes with *a*. While the hypervirial theorem only holds for complete basis sets, the origin independence in the length gauge is still preserved in finite basis sets since this only relies on finding the eigenstates of \hat{H}_0 [11].

By performing a multipole expansion of the perturbation operator in the length gauge from Eq. (23)

$$\hat{U}_{r} = -\frac{\mathrm{i}eA_{0}}{2\hbar} \sum_{i} \exp\left(\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}_{i}\right) \left(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}\cdot\left[\boldsymbol{r}_{i},\hat{H}_{0}\right]\right)$$

$$= -\frac{\mathrm{i}eA_{0}}{2\hbar} \sum_{i} \left(1 + \mathrm{i}(\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}_{i}) - \frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}_{i})^{2} + \cdots\right) \left(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}\cdot\left[\boldsymbol{r}_{i},\hat{H}_{0}\right]\right)$$
(26)

the different terms in the multipole expansion can be identified. For the exact solution the multipole expansion in the length and velocity gauges are termwise identical, when using the same origin, while in all other cases the gauges differ. For the zeroth order in Eq. (26), we find the familiar electric-dipole expression in the length gauge

$$T_{0n}^{(0)} = -i\frac{1}{\hbar}\langle 0|\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}\cdot[\boldsymbol{r},\hat{H}_0]|n\rangle = -i\frac{\Delta E_{0n}}{\hbar}\langle 0|\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}|n\rangle$$

where ΔE_{0n} is the energy difference between the two states. Writing the first order in terms of a symmetric and antisymmetric part with respect to the interchange of \boldsymbol{k} and $\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}$, like in Eq. (19), the first-order electric and magnetic terms can be identified

$$\begin{split} T_{0n}^{(1)} &= -\frac{\mathrm{i}e}{\hbar} \sum_{i} \langle 0 | \mathbf{i} (\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r}_{i}) (\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}} \cdot [\mathbf{r}_{i}, \hat{H}_{0}]) | n \rangle \\ &= \frac{e}{2\hbar} \sum_{i} \left[\langle 0 | (\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r}_{i}) ([\mathbf{r}_{i}, \hat{H}_{0}] \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) + (\mathbf{k} \cdot [\mathbf{r}_{i}, \hat{H}_{0}]) (\mathbf{r}_{i} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) | n \rangle \right. \\ &+ \langle 0 | (\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r}_{i}) ([\mathbf{r}_{i}, \hat{H}_{0}] \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) - (\mathbf{k} \cdot [\mathbf{r}_{i}, \hat{H}_{0}]) (\mathbf{r}_{i} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) | n \rangle \\ &= \frac{\Delta E_{0n}}{2\hbar} k_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{\beta} \langle 0 | e \sum_{i} r_{i,\alpha} r_{i,\beta} | n \rangle + \frac{e}{2\hbar} (\mathbf{k} \times \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) \sum_{i} \langle 0 | (\mathbf{r}_{i} \times [\mathbf{r}_{i}, \hat{H}_{0}]) | n \rangle \\ &= T_{0n}^{Q} + T_{0n}^{m'}. \end{split}$$

The symmetric term T_{0n}^Q is the usual electric-quadrupole term while the antisymmetric term $T_{0n}^{m'}$ is the magnetic-dipole term, both in the length gauge. The commutator in $T_{0n}^{m'}$ cannot be replaced by the momentum operator using the hypervirial theorem from Eq. (17) for finite basis sets and therefore must be evaluated directly.

In the literature, when trying to show that the multipole expansion in the length gauge is not origin independent, the magnetic terms are always taken in the velocity gauge. The magnetic dipole in the velocity gauge from Eq. (21) will, when moving the origin, give a distance dependent electric-dipole transition moment in the velocity gauge; however, when using $T_{0n}^{m'}$ a distance dependent electric-dipole transition moment in the length gauge instead appears

$$T_{0n}^{m'}(\mathbf{O}+\mathbf{a}) = \sum_{i} \langle 0|(\mathbf{r}_{i}-\mathbf{a}) \times [(\mathbf{r}_{i}-\mathbf{a}), \hat{H}_{0}]|n\rangle$$

$$= \sum_{i} \langle 0|\mathbf{r}_{i} \times [\mathbf{r}_{i}, \hat{H}_{0}] - \mathbf{a} \times [\mathbf{r}_{i}, \hat{H}_{0}] + \mathbf{r}_{i} \times [-\mathbf{a}, \hat{H}_{0}] + \mathbf{a} \times [\mathbf{a}, \hat{H}_{0}]|n\rangle$$

$$= T_{0n}^{m'}(\mathbf{O}) - \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}a_{\beta}\Delta E_{0n}\sum_{i} \langle 0|\mathbf{r}_{i,\gamma}|n\rangle$$
(27)

which is orthogonal to the direction of the movement as indicated by the Levi-Civita tensor. Using the Bernadotte et al. [12] proof of the termwise origin independence for the oscillator strengths in the multipole expansion in the velocity gauge, the origin independence in the length gauge follows from exactly the same arguments since in the correct length gauge, all lower order terms arising from shifting the origin will remain in the length gauge. For the rotatory strength we also see that the tensor averaging will eliminate any contribution from the electric-dipole term in Eq. (27), and therefore become origin independent for the exact same reasons as in the velocity gauge. The fact that the origin independence for oscillator and rotatory strengths are gauge invariant properties is not surprising since these rely on exact cancelation on terms from the multipole expansion and a gauge transformation of course does not change which terms should cancel.

The origin dependence of the individual terms in the multipole expansion also shows that there is no single separation between electric and magnetic transitions with all possible choices of origin since the electric and magnetic contributions are transformed into each other with any shift of the origin. Furthermore, it is not possible to measure the contribution from any of the terms in the multipole expansion and the statements of the measurement of electric-dipole or -quadrupole oscillator strengths are not physically possible. All these interpretations rely on special choices of origin or origins. It is numerically quite easy to show that even small displacements of the origin can introduce very large higher order terms in the multipole expansion [15] and thereby invalidate any interpretation of the different terms in the multipole expansion.

The major problem in using the length gauge for anything other than the electric terms is the evaluation of $[\mathbf{r}_i, \hat{H}_0]$, since for the magnetic dipole $T_{0n}^{m'}$ or for the exact semiclassical expression in Eq. (25), the usual trick of applying \hat{H}_0 on both the bra or the ket to get the energies of the eigenstates of \hat{H}_0 does not appear to be directly possible. The evaluation of the integrals over these operators involving a commutator with \hat{H}_0 is therefore nonstandard. For the kinetic energy part of \hat{H}_0 the integrals do not differ significantly from those described in Section 8, since these all can be reduced to a sum of integrals of the form shown in Eq. (37). The two-electron Coulomb interaction can be reduced to a form similar to that used for a mixed Gaussian and planewave basis set as shown by Čarsky and Polášek [31, 32]. Due to this more cumbersome evaluation of the integrals for the transition moments in the length gauge, it is doubtful that the length gauge will be useful for anything above the dipole approximation.

6. Selection rules

First, a very brief historical introduction to the standard selection rules for absorption/emission and CD active electronic transitions will be presented along with the connection to group theory. This is followed by a discussion of the dependence of the selection rules with respect to the choice of origin with an emphasis on the physical interpretation of the transition. Along the way, we will compare the multipole expansion to the full exponential operator.

In the literature, the selection rules are presented in terms of transition multipole moments (usually up to first order in the wave vector) and are derived to be valid for atoms and small molecular system exhibiting symmetry, when the ratio of the wavelength of the light to the molecular size is large. The original selection rules for transitions between electronic states date back to the work by Laporte and Meggers for such rules for centrosymmetric species [33]. These selection rules state that for an electronic transition to be allowed the spin must be conserved ($\Delta S = 0$ for spin-allowed transitions) and the orbital angular momentum must change ($\Delta L = \pm 1$). The latter condition is, for noncentrosymmetric species, translated so that the transition dipole moment is nonzero for allowed transitions, where the intensity of the transition is proportional to $|\boldsymbol{\mu}|^2$. For a transition to be CD active, the first requirement is, of course, that it should be a dipole-allowed transition. Additionally, as already understood from Rosenfeld's work, the transition should carry a nonzero magnetic-dipole moment [21]. This is not all, the CD activity is proportional to $\text{Im}(\mu \cdot m)$, hence, the relative directions of the magnetic and electric-dipole moments matter. It is also worth mentioning that for CD under anisotropic conditions the electric-quadrupole moment contributes too. A more detailed analysis of the selection rules for CD spectroscopy and the underlying mechanism behind the CD activity, based on the independent systems/perturbation (ISP) model, has been presented by Schipper and Alison [34].

Thus, to summarize, the selection rules for intense transitions, only in terms of transition multipole moments, are

- 1. the transition must be associated with a nonzero electric-dipole moment (for both absorption/emission and CD active transitions), and
- 2. a nonzero electric-quadrupole moment (only in case of anisotropic CD activity) and/or
- **3.** a nonzero magnetic-dipole moment, and not orthogonal to the electricdipole moment (a must for isotropic CD activity).

For atoms and molecules the spectroscopic selection rules depend on whether or not the value of the transition moment integral

$$T_{0n} = \int \Psi_0^* \hat{\Lambda} \Psi_n \, \mathrm{d}r = \langle 0 | \hat{\Lambda} | n \rangle$$

is zero. Here $\Psi_0^* \hat{\Lambda} \Psi_n$ is the transition moment function and $\hat{\Lambda}$ the transition moment operator, which can be any term from the multipole expansion or the exact semiclassical operator in our case. Using group theory, it can be shown that the transition moment function must belong to the totally symmetric representation of the point group of the given atom or molecule to give an allowed transition for the $\hat{\Lambda}$ and states in question. The selection rules derived from symmetry considerations can in this way give information about the magnitude, shape and symmetry of spectra. For molecules with some elements of symmetry it is therefore easy to predict what transitions are allowed and forbidden directly from the character table of the point group.

The selection rules will typically point to a specific dominating term in the multipole expansion and this term is then commonly ascribed as the physical origin of the transition, like the electric quadrupole [35]. The problem with this physical interpretation is that it is given with a specific choice of origin for the coordinate system and any displacement of the origin will give a different interpretation since no terms above the electric dipole of the multipole expansion are origin independent. Therefore, there can be no measurement of the individual terms in the multipole expansion. However, any origin displacement will of course not change what is measured and the symmetries and magnitude deduced from symmetry considerations of the multipole expansion will always automatically show up in the exact operator and for an origin independent truncation of the oscillator strength at or above the dominating term. The drawback of using the full exponential operator for isotropically averaged transition strengths instead is that all transitions are allowed and it is not obvious how, from simple considerations, the intensity and symmetry can be estimated a priori.

While the dipole approximation and the full exponential operator show origin independence, the reason for doing so is very different. First, in the dipole-moment approximation, the velocity gauge is trivially invariant to a translation of the origin, while the length gauge is invariant because of the orthogonality of the states (see Eq. (18), and replace μ with $\mu + a$). Within the dipole-moment approximation, the selection rules for optically active

transitions are therefore invariant to the choice of origin, but only intense transitions can be seen, and all transitions are predicted to be CD inactive due to the lack of higher order terms. For the full exponential operator, on the other hand, it is noted that the origin dependence of the transition moment (see Eqs. (24) and (25)) can be expressed as

$$T(\mathbf{O} + \mathbf{a}) = \exp\left(\mathrm{i}\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{a}\right) T(\mathbf{O}), \tag{28}$$

where the origin is displaced by the vector \boldsymbol{a} . From this, it is obvious that the oscillator strength—proportional to the square norm of the transition moment—is independent of the selection of the origin. To proceed, it is noted that the exponential term in the expression above will rotate the real and imaginary components of the transition moment into each other. A complete interchange of the two components is accomplished when the projection of the displacement vector \boldsymbol{a} on the wave vector \boldsymbol{k} is equal to $\frac{\pi}{2}$. To put this into a context of UV/Vis and X-ray spectroscopy, the magnitude of the displacement for such an interchange is $|\boldsymbol{a}| = 500-2000$ Å and $|\boldsymbol{a}| = 0.025-25$ Å, respectively. Again, the oscillator strength is invariant to such rotations since the displacement term is just a complex phase. The rotatory strength is proportional to the selection of the origin.

For a truncated multipole moment scheme above the dipole things are, however, a bit more complicated due to the dependence of the selection of origin. While Bernadotte et al. have demonstrated that an origin-independent multipole-moment-based oscillator strength can be computed, the values of the individual components of the multipoles are not invariant to the selection of origin [12]. For a more informative view on this, examine the terms for a given order m in Eq. (28), starting by expanding both factors in orders of \boldsymbol{k} ,

$$T(\mathbf{O}+a) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathbf{i}^n}{n!} (\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{a})^n \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} T^{(m)}(\mathbf{O})$$

and then grouping the terms of a given total order m,

$$T(\mathbf{O} + a) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} T^{(m)}(\mathbf{O} + a)$$

$$T^{(m)}(\mathbf{O} + a) = \sum_{n=0}^{m} \frac{i^{n}}{n!} (\mathbf{k} \cdot a)^{n} T^{(m-n)}(\mathbf{O}).$$
 (29)

which contains contributions from all lower order terms. In this way the multipole expansion is order by order building the complex phase of the full exponential operator. From Eq. (29), we also notice that higher-order transition moment operators, which perhaps were zero at O due to symmetry, may now even become intense due to large lower order terms. In fact, when the origin is moved, then for all transitions, where a lower order transition moment operator is allowed, we see that as |a| approaches infinity,

$$\lim_{|\boldsymbol{a}|\to\infty} |T^{(m>0)}(\boldsymbol{O}+\boldsymbol{a})| = \boldsymbol{\infty} \text{ if any } T^{(n(30)$$

the different terms in the multipole expansion tends to infinity. Even for simple systems, like the transition from 1s to 2p in helium, which would only be dipole allowed, the displacement of the origin will suddenly give nonzero higher order terms

$$T^{(1)}(\mathbf{O}+\boldsymbol{a}) = T^{(1)}(\mathbf{O}) + \mathrm{i}(\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{a})T^{(0)}(\mathbf{O}).$$
(31)

The exact cancelation in the origin independent approach by Bernadotte et al., however, ensures that the sum in the oscillator strength is always finite [12].

While the mixing of electric and magnetic terms from the displacement of origin is reminiscent of the change of inertial frame in electrodynamics, there are, however, significant differences. The most important differences are that the electric and magnetic fields in electrodynamics are physical and always remain finite, whereas the transition moments are not, and therefore should not be treated as such.

To conclude, the selection rules can give great insight into the both qualitative and quantitative aspects of spectra. Making a physical interpretation from the selection rules based on the multipole expansion is, however, not possible due the nonphysical nature of the different terms in the multipole expansion as seen in Eq. (30). Even though the full exponential operator is not plagued by summation of unphysical terms, it unfortunately does not provide the same a priori insights.

7. Isotropically averaged oscillator and rotatory strengths

What will follow is the derivation of the isotropic values for the oscillator strength, f, and the factor $|T^{L}|^{2} - |T^{R}|^{2}$ used in CD spectroscopy. This can be done in either of two ways: (*i*) the wave vector and the

polarization vector are varied over all possible combinations for a fixed molecular frame, or (*ii*) the molecule is rotated around the three Euler angles for fixed direction of the wave vector. List et al. [17] adopted the latter view, while in this section we will employ the former. We will start with the averaging over all possible polarization directions, \mathcal{E} , given a fixed wave vector \mathbf{k} —the rotatory strength is independent of the selection of the polarization directions and thus requires no such averaging. Note that for the rest of this section the notation $\langle \hat{x} \rangle = \sum_i \langle 0 | \hat{x}_i | n \rangle$ will be used for any transition property.

The oscillator strength can effectively be expressed as, see Eqs. (6) and (15),

$$f_{0n}(\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}) = \frac{2m_{\rm e}}{e^2 \Delta E_{0n}} |\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}} \cdot \boldsymbol{T}'_{0n}|^2.,$$

where $T'_{0n} = \frac{e}{m_e} \langle \exp(i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r}_i)\hat{\mathbf{p}}_i \rangle$. A general polarization direction can be expressed as

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}(\boldsymbol{\chi}) = \cos\left(\boldsymbol{\chi}\right)\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_1 + \sin\left(\boldsymbol{\chi}\right)\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_2,$$

where the angle χ defines any polarization vector in the plane of the two, arbitrarily chosen, orthogonal polarization vectors, \mathcal{E}_1 and \mathcal{E}_2 . That is, the oscillator strength is expressed as

$$f_{0n}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}(\boldsymbol{\chi})) = \frac{2m_{\rm e}}{e^2 \Delta E_{0n}} \big| (\cos(\boldsymbol{\chi}) \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_1 + \sin(\boldsymbol{\chi}) \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_2) \cdot \boldsymbol{T}'_{0n} \big|^2.$$

The square can be expanded as:

$$\left| (\cos(\boldsymbol{\chi})\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1} + \sin(\boldsymbol{\chi})\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2}) \cdot \boldsymbol{T}_{0n}' \right|^{2} = A + B\cos(2\boldsymbol{\chi}) + C\sin(2\boldsymbol{\chi}), \text{ where} \\ A = \frac{1}{2} (|\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1} \cdot \boldsymbol{T}_{0n}'|^{2} + |\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2} \cdot \boldsymbol{T}_{0n}'|^{2}), \\ B = \frac{1}{2} (|\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1} \cdot \boldsymbol{T}_{0n}'|^{2} - |\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2} \cdot \boldsymbol{T}_{0n}'|^{2}), \text{ and} \\ C = \frac{1}{2} [(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1} \cdot \boldsymbol{T}_{0n}')(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2} \cdot \boldsymbol{T}_{0n}')^{*} + (\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1} \cdot \boldsymbol{T}_{0n}')^{*}(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2} \cdot \boldsymbol{T}_{0n}')]$$

This is now followed by the averaging of the oscillator strength over all polarization directions, to obtain the oscillator strength for unpolarized light, but for a particular wave vector,

$$f_{0n}(\boldsymbol{k})_{\text{unpol}} = \frac{\int_{0}^{2\pi} f_{0n}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}(\boldsymbol{\chi})) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\chi}}{\int_{0}^{2\pi} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\chi}}$$
$$= \frac{m_{\text{e}}}{e^{2} \Delta E_{0n}} \left(|\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1} \cdot \boldsymbol{T}'_{0n}|^{2} + |\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2} \cdot \boldsymbol{T}'_{0n}|^{2} \right),$$

where the $\cos(2\chi)$ and $\sin(2\chi)$ terms trivially vanish upon integration.

What follows now is the averaging over all possible directions of the wave vector. For the expression of the isotropically averaged oscillator and rotatory strength, using the exact description of the electromagnetic field of the interacting photon, no closed formula exists. Lebedev and coworkers [36–41], however, have devised a way of defining a grid by distributing quadrature points over a unit sphere. That is, over the polar and azimuthal angles, θ and ϕ , which gives the propagation directions included in the numerical integration for the incoming light. The numerically averaged isotropic oscillator strength, expressed as a sum over quadrature points, is compiled as

$$f_{0n}(\boldsymbol{k})_{\rm iso} = \sum_{i}^{n_{\rm quad}} w(\boldsymbol{\theta}_i, \boldsymbol{\phi}_i) f_{0n}(\boldsymbol{k}(\boldsymbol{\theta}_i, \boldsymbol{\phi}_i))_{\rm unpol}$$

where w are the weights of the Lebedev numerical quadrature. In such an integration, the exact isotropic average can be systematically approximated. List et al. [17] have shown that this converges, in terms of oscillator strengths, very rapidly with the number of quadrature points.

Now we turn our attention to the isotropic expressions using a truncated multipole expansion to approximate the exact expression for the electromagnetic field of the photon. Here will be derived the lowest order expressions of the oscillator strength and the rotatory strength.

The oscillator strength is approximated, at zeroth order $(T'_{0n} \approx \frac{e}{m} \langle \hat{p} \rangle)$, as

$$f_{0n}(\boldsymbol{k})_{\text{unpol}} = \frac{1}{m_e \Delta E_{0n}} (|\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_1 \cdot \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{p}} \rangle|^2 + |\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_2 \cdot \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{p}} \rangle|^2).$$

Observe that the integrals are independent of the wave vector. The expression above is now integrated over all angles. This is done in terms of the following transformation matrix (expressing a unitary rotation), which will transform any vector $\mathbf{r} = (x, y, z)$ such that all possible angles are accessed as the azimuthal and polar angles are varied within their ranges,

$$\begin{pmatrix} x'\\ y'\\ z' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\phi) & -\sin(\phi) & 0\\ \sin(\phi) & \cos(\phi) & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\theta) & 0 & \sin(\theta)\\ 0 & 1 & 0\\ -\sin(\theta) & 0 & \cos(\theta) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x\\ y\\ z \end{pmatrix}$$

Starting with $\mathbf{k}(\boldsymbol{\phi}=0,\boldsymbol{\theta}=0) = k\hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_z, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_1 = \hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_x$, and $\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_2 = \hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_y$ one finds the general relation between the wave vector and the two polarization vectors expressed as

$$\mathbf{k}(\phi,\theta) = k(\cos(\phi)\sin(\theta)\hat{\mathbf{e}}_x + \cos(\phi)\sin(\theta)\hat{\mathbf{e}}_y + \cos(\theta)\hat{\mathbf{e}}_z) \mathbf{\mathcal{E}}_1(\phi,\theta) = \cos(\phi)\cos(\theta)\hat{\mathbf{e}}_x + \sin(\phi)\cos(\theta)\hat{\mathbf{e}}_y - \sin(\theta)\hat{\mathbf{e}}_z \mathbf{\mathcal{E}}_2(\phi,\theta) = -\sin(\phi)\hat{\mathbf{e}}_x + \cos(\phi)\hat{\mathbf{e}}_y.$$

That is, the oscillator strength, averaged over all polarization directions and for a given propagation direction, is expressed as

$$f_{0n}(\boldsymbol{k}(\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\theta}))_{\text{unpol}} = \frac{1}{m_{\text{e}}\Delta E_{0n}} (|\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1}(\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\theta})\cdot\langle\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}\rangle|^{2} + |\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2}(\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\theta})\cdot\langle\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}\rangle|^{2}).$$

The averaged dipole approximation of the oscillator strength reads

$$f_{0n}(\boldsymbol{k})_{\rm iso} = \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi \,\sin(\phi) \int_0^{\pi} \mathrm{d}\theta f_{0,n}(\boldsymbol{k}(\phi,\theta))_{\rm unpol}$$

and gives the standard isotropic value of the oscillator strength in the velocity gauge as

$$f_{0n,\text{iso}} = \frac{2}{3m_{\text{e}}\Delta E_{0n}} |\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{p}} \rangle|^2 \approx \frac{2m_{\text{e}}}{3e^2 \Delta E_{0n}} |\langle \boldsymbol{T}' \rangle|^2.$$
(32)

This can also be derived from the fact that the sum, $f_{0n}(\mathbf{k}(\phi,\theta))_{unpol} + f_{0n}(\mathbf{k}(\phi,\theta+\frac{\pi}{2}))_{unpol} + f_{0n}(\mathbf{k}(\phi+\frac{\pi}{2},\theta+\frac{\pi}{2}))_{unpol}$, the sum of the oscillator strength in three arbitrarily chosen orthogonal directions, is invariant under any unitary transformation. This is trivially realized from the fact that $|\langle \hat{\mathbf{p}} \rangle|^2$ is invariant to any such transformation.

Before introducing the multipole expansion for the isotropically averaged rotatory strength, it is worth to have a quick look at the contributions specific to a particular wave vector. At this point, we adopt the convention of assigning to L the values $\psi = \frac{\pi}{4}, \eta = -\frac{\pi}{2}$, and therefore $\psi = \frac{\pi}{4}, \eta = \frac{\pi}{2}$ to R. An opposite convention would simply result in a change of sign. That is, the rotatory strength (using Eq. (12), for $\psi = \frac{\pi}{4}$ and $\eta = -\frac{\pi}{2}$), as a function of the wave vector, which is proportional to

$$\Delta_{0n}^{L-R}(\mathbf{k}) = |T_{0n}^{L}(\mathbf{k})|^{2} - |T_{0n}^{R}(\mathbf{k})|^{2} = 2 \left[T_{0n}^{e}(\mathbf{k}, \mathcal{E}_{2}) T_{0n}^{o}(\mathbf{k}, \mathcal{E}_{1}) - T_{0n}^{e}(\mathbf{k}, \mathcal{E}_{1}) T_{0n}^{o}(\mathbf{k}, \mathcal{E}_{2}) \right],$$

where T_{0n} is split into the even and odd term contributions of the complex exponential operator (see Eq. (9)).

We proceed by introducing the first-order truncation of the multipole expansion of the exponential operator, that is, $T^e \approx -iT^{(0)}$ and $T^o \approx T^{(1)}$. This would allow one to define a rotatory strength tensor, as a general expression to derive the rotatory strength for an arbitrary direction of the wave vector [42]. It is noted that the first-order term, $T^{(1)}$, arranged into the magnetic-dipole and an electric-quadrupole terms, allows the rotatory strength tensor to be written as a sum of a symmetric and an antisymmetric part—the electric-dipole–magnetic-dipole term and the electric-dipole– electric-quadrupole term. The latter is traceless and will not contribute under isotropic averaging. That is, to first order in **k**, one has that

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{0n}^{\mathrm{L-R}}(\boldsymbol{k}) &= 2 \left[-\mathrm{i} T_{0n}^{(0)}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_2) T_{0n}^{(1)}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_1) + \mathrm{i} T_{0n}^{(0)}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_1) T_{0n}^{(1)}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_2) \right] \\ &= 2\mathrm{i} \left[T_{0n}^{Q^p}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_2) + T_{0n}^{m'}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_2) \right] T_{0n}^{\mu^p}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_1) \\ &- 2\mathrm{i} \left[T_{0n}^{Q^p}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_1) + T_{0n}^{m'}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_1) \right] T_{0n}^{\mu^p}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_2) \\ &= \Delta_{0n}^{\mathrm{L-R}}(\boldsymbol{k})^{Q^p} + \Delta_{0n}^{\mathrm{L-R}}(\boldsymbol{k})^{m'} \end{split}$$

with the multipole terms derived in Section 4. To proceed with deriving the isotropic average the contribution due to the electric-quadrupole term, $\Delta_{0n}^{L-R}(\mathbf{k})^{Q^p}$, will be ignored, as mentioned above. Furthermore, note that the rotatory strength is not an explicit function of the polarization directions, however, they have to fulfill mutual orthogonality and both be orthogonal to the wave vector. Further, using the relationships $\mathbf{k} \times \mathcal{E}_1 = \mathbf{k} \mathcal{E}_2$, $\mathbf{k} \times \mathcal{E}_2 = -\mathbf{k} \mathcal{E}_1$, and Eq. (22), we see that

$$T_{0n}^{m'}(\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_1) = -\mathrm{i}k(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_2 \cdot \langle \hat{\mathbf{m}}' \rangle)$$
$$T_{0n}^{m'}(\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_2) = +\mathrm{i}k(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_1 \cdot \langle \hat{\mathbf{m}}' \rangle)$$

and obtain the expression

$$\Delta_{0n}^{\mathrm{L-R}}(\boldsymbol{k})^{m'} = -2k \frac{e}{m_{\mathrm{e}}} [(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1} \cdot \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{m}}' \rangle)(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{1} \cdot \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{p}} \rangle) + (\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2} \cdot \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{m}}' \rangle)(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{2} \cdot \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{p}} \rangle)].$$

That is, for example, the rotatory strength expressed explicitly for a wave vector in the *z*-direction and the two polarization directions to be arbitrarily chosen to be in the *x*- and *y*-direction, respectively, gives the expression,

$$\Delta_{0n}^{\rm L-R} (k \hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_z)^{m'} = -2k \frac{e}{m_{\rm e}} \Big(\langle \hat{m}_x' \rangle \langle \hat{p}_x \rangle + \langle \hat{m}_y' \rangle \langle \hat{p}_y \rangle \Big)$$

The isotropically averaged rotatory strength is now derived in a fashion very similar to that of the oscillator strength. In this way, one obtains the expression of the isotropic squared difference of the transition moments of right and left polarized light,

$$\Delta_{0n}^{\rm L-R}(k)_{\rm iso} = -\frac{4}{3}k\frac{e}{m_{\rm e}}\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{p}}\rangle \cdot \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{m}}' \rangle.$$

Further replacement of *k* by $\frac{\Delta E}{\hbar c}$ and of $\frac{e}{m_e} \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{p}} \rangle$ by $i \frac{\Delta E_{0n}}{\hbar} \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{\mu}} \rangle$, as in Eq. (18), leads to

$$\Delta_{0n,\text{iso}}^{\text{L-R}} = -i\frac{4}{3}\frac{\Delta E^2}{\hbar^2 c} \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{\mu}} \rangle \cdot \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{m}}' \rangle = \frac{4}{3}\frac{\Delta E^2}{\hbar^2 c} \operatorname{Im}(\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{\mu}} \rangle \cdot \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{m}}' \rangle), \qquad (33)$$

since for real wave functions $\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{\mu}} \rangle$ is pure real and $\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{m}}' \rangle$ is pure imaginary. Note that this last form is in mixed length and velocity gauge, and therefore subject to origin dependence. The consequences of the mixed gauge were discussed further in Section 5.

8. Evaluation of the integrals for the transition moments

The evaluation of the integrals for the exact semiclassical light–matter interaction has been the major obstacle in the evaluation of the operator [12, 43]. It will be shown below that the exact semiclassical light–matter interaction of a plane wave can be thought of as a Fourier transformation of the overlap between basis functions in a Gaussian basis and that this can be solved analytically. The evaluation of the integrals is therefore very similar to those found for dynamic structure factors [43], matrix elements in a mixed Gaussian and plane wave basis set [31, 32, 44], London atomic orbitals or gauge invariant atomic orbitals (GIAO) [25–27, 29, 45–47], and similarities are shared with the plane wave representations of the electromagnetic field [48].

In order to evaluate the transition rate, Eq. (2), the matrix element of Eq. (3) needs to be evaluated. This can be generalized to the expression

$$\langle 0|\hat{U}|n\rangle = \sum_{\mu\nu} U^{AB}_{\mu\nu} \gamma^{AB}_{\mu\nu}.$$
(34)

In Eq. (34), $U_{\mu\nu}^{AB}$ is the integral matrix for the orbital bases A and B with indices μ and ν and likewise defined for the transition density matrix $\gamma_{\mu\nu}^{AB}$ [49]. As in Section 4, we ignore the intrinsic spin contribution, i.e., we approximate Eq. (3) with Eq. (15). For a wave function expanded in Gaussians the individual terms in $U_{\mu\nu}^{AB}$ from Eq. (34) correspond to evaluating integrals of the form

$$I_{\lambda} = \langle \boldsymbol{\chi}_{\mu} | \exp\left(\pm i\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}\right) \hat{p}_{\lambda} | \boldsymbol{\chi}_{\nu} \rangle \tag{35}$$

for $\lambda = x, y, z$, where the real-valued atomic Cartesian basis functions χ_{μ} and χ_{ν} are expressed as

$$\chi_{\mu}(\mathbf{r}) = \chi_{i,j,k}(\mathbf{r}, \alpha_{\mu}, \mathbf{A})$$

= $(x - A_x)^i (y - A_y)^j (z - A_z)^k \exp(-\alpha_{\mu} |\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{A}|^2)$
= $\chi_i(x, \alpha_{\mu}, A_x) \chi_i(y, \alpha_{\mu}, A_y) \chi_k(z, \alpha_{\mu}, A_z)$

in their different components, where i, j, and k represent the order of the Cartesian components x, y, and z, respectively. The integral in Eq. (35) can be factorized into three one-dimensional integrals

$$I_{\lambda} = I_{\lambda}^{x} \cdot I_{\lambda}^{\gamma} \cdot I_{\lambda}^{z},$$

where each I_{λ}^{τ} is of the form

$$I_{\lambda}^{\tau} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \chi_{i}(\tau, \alpha_{\mu}, A_{\tau}) \exp\left(\pm ik_{\tau}\tau\right) \hat{q}_{\tau\lambda} \chi_{j}(\tau, \alpha_{\nu}, B_{\tau}) \,\mathrm{d}\tau, \quad \hat{q}_{\tau\lambda} = \begin{cases} \hat{p}_{\lambda} & \text{if } \tau = \lambda, \\ 1 & \text{if } \tau \neq \lambda. \end{cases}$$

Applying, for example, the differentiation operator $\hat{p}_x = -i\hbar \frac{\partial}{\partial x}$ one finds

$$I_x^x = -i\hbar \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \chi_i(x, \alpha_\mu, A_x) \exp\left(\pm ik_x x\right) \left[j\chi_{j-1}(x, \alpha_\nu, B_x) - 2\alpha_\nu \chi_{j+1}(x, \alpha_\nu, B_x) \right] dx$$
(36)

that the integrals I_{λ}^{λ} can be expressed as a sum of two terms. From Eq. (36) it is seen that both terms, as well as those for $\tau \neq \lambda$, are of the form

$$J_{\lambda} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(\pm i k_{\lambda} \lambda\right) \chi_{i}(\lambda, \alpha_{\mu}, A_{\lambda}) \chi_{j}(\lambda, \alpha_{\nu}, B_{\lambda}) \, d\lambda.$$
(37)

Using the Gaussian product formula one notes that the expression in Eq. (37) is akin to a Fourier transformation of a Gaussian from real space λ to k_{λ} space. Integrals of the from in Eq. (37) can be solved analytically using recursive

formulas for the analytical Fourier representation of Gaussians or directly as a Fourier transformation of the overlap between two basis functions as shown by Lehtola et al. for dynamic structure factors [32, 43].

Since the Fourier transformation of a Gaussian is a new Gaussian, one can choose not to use the analytical form, but instead rewrite the integral in Eq. (37) to a form which can be easily evaluated by a standard Gauß–Hermite quadrature. Alternative approaches have been suggested, for example, by List et al. in which an extension to the McMurchie–Davidson procedure is suggested based on the individual integration of the real and imaginary part of the complex operator or by Tellgren and coworkers using magnetic field-dependent Hermite Gaussian functions [13, 50, 51]. To proceed with Gauß–Hermite quadrature, using the Gaussian product formula in Eq. (37), for $\lambda = x$

$$J_{x} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(\pm ik_{x}x\right)\chi_{i}(x,\alpha_{\mu},A_{x})\chi_{j}(x,\alpha_{\nu},B_{x}) dx$$

$$= \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha_{\mu}\alpha_{\nu}}{\zeta}(A_{x}-B_{x})^{2}\right]\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}(x-A_{x})^{i}(x-B_{x})^{j}\exp\left(-\zeta(x-P_{x})^{2}\pm ik_{x}x\right) dx,$$

(38)

where $\zeta = \alpha_{\mu} + \alpha_{\nu}$ and $P_x = (\alpha_{\mu}A_x + \alpha_{\nu}B_x)/\zeta$ one can complete the square in the exponent

$$J_x = \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha_\mu \alpha_\nu}{\zeta} (A_x - B_x)^2\right] \exp\left(\gamma\right) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (x - A_x)^i (x - B_x)^j \exp\left(-\zeta (x - Q_x)^2\right) dx,$$
(39)

where $Q_x = P_x \pm i k_x/(2\zeta)$ and $\gamma = \zeta (Q_x^2 - P_x^2)$. Notice here that for mixed Gaussian and plane wave basis set expressions are similar to Eq. (38) [44].

Making a change of variables $t = \sqrt{\zeta}(x - Q_x)$ the integral in Eq. (39) can now be transformed to

$$J_x = \Theta \lim_{S \to \infty} \int_{-\sqrt{\zeta}(S-Q_x)}^{\sqrt{\zeta}(S-Q_x)} \left(\frac{t}{\sqrt{\zeta}} + Q_x - A_x\right)^i \left(\frac{t}{\sqrt{\zeta}} + Q_x - B_x\right)^j \exp\left(-t^2\right) dt,$$
(40)

where

$$\Theta = \exp\left(-\frac{\alpha_{\mu}\alpha_{\nu}}{\zeta}(A_x - B_x)^2\right)\frac{\exp\left(\gamma\right)}{\sqrt{\zeta}}.$$

Defining the polynomial

$$f(t) = \Theta\left(\frac{t}{\sqrt{\zeta}} + Q_x - A_x\right)^i \left(\frac{t}{\sqrt{\zeta}} + Q_x - B_x\right)^j \tag{41}$$

Eq. (40) can be written a little more compact

$$J_x = \lim_{S \to \infty} \int_{-\sqrt{\zeta}(S-Q_x)}^{\sqrt{\zeta}(S-Q_x)} f(t) \exp\left(-t^2\right) \mathrm{d}t.$$
(42)

Since the integral in Eq. (42) is analytic the integration is independent of the path and can therefore be split into

$$J_{x} = \lim_{S \to \infty} \int_{-\sqrt{\zeta}(S-Q_{x})}^{-\sqrt{\zeta}S} f(t) \exp(-t^{2}) dt$$

+
$$\lim_{S \to \infty} \int_{-\sqrt{\zeta}S}^{\sqrt{\zeta}S} f(t) \exp(-t^{2}) dt$$

+
$$\lim_{S \to \infty} \int_{\sqrt{\zeta}S}^{\sqrt{\zeta}(S-Q_{x})} f(t) \exp(-t^{2}) dt.$$
 (43)

Since $\sqrt{\zeta} > 0$ and due to the exponential decay of the integrand, as $\operatorname{Re}(t) \rightarrow \pm \infty$, the first and last terms of the RHS of Eq. (43) vanish, leaving

$$J_x = \lim_{S \to \infty} \int_{-\sqrt{\zeta}S}^{\sqrt{\zeta}S} f(t) \exp\left(-t^2\right) dt = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(t) \exp\left(-t^2\right) dt$$

to be evaluated. One can note that although t in general is complex it will only be integrated along the real axis. Thus, for all practical purposes, a standard Gauß–Hermite quadrature can be used. However, the coefficients of the polynomial, see Eq. (41), are complex. Hence, using the standard Gauß–Hermite nodes t_n and weights w_n , the integral is computed as

$$J_x = \sum_n w_n f(t_n)$$

or equivalently with the transformed quadrature nodes $x_n = t_n / \sqrt{\zeta} + Q_x$

$$J_x = \Theta \sum_n w_n (x_n - A_x)^i (x_n - B_x)^j.$$

8.1 Faster evaluation of the integrals for the transition moments

The central problem, from a numerical perspective, with the exact operator in comparison to the multipole expansion is the need for a new set of integrals for every transition since every transition has a different resonance frequency and therefore also different *k*-vectors. For systems where only few transitions need to be calculated, this is not a problem, but, for example, in X-ray spectroscopy of transition metal complexes many hundreds or more transitions are involved and thus, calculating a new set of integrals for every transition quickly becomes cumbersome. It is therefore of interest to approximate the integrals in a way such that there is no need to recalculate them for every transition.

Since we are usually only interested in transitions within a reasonably narrow energy window in comparison to the energy of the incoming light, it is interesting to look at the change of the value of the integral for energetically close transitions:

$$\begin{split} \Delta I_{\lambda}^{\tau} &= I_{\lambda}^{\tau}(k^{a}) - I_{\lambda}^{\tau}(k^{b}) \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \chi_{i}(\tau, \alpha_{\mu}, A_{\tau}) \Big[\exp\left(\pm ik_{\tau}^{a}\tau\right) - \exp\left(\pm ik_{\tau}^{b}\tau\right) \Big] \hat{q}_{\tau\lambda}\chi_{j}(\tau, \alpha_{\nu}, B_{\tau}) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \chi_{i}(\tau, \alpha_{\mu}, A_{\tau}) \exp\left(\pm ik_{\tau}^{a}\tau\right) \Big[1 - \exp\left(\pm ik_{\tau}^{c}\tau\right) \Big] \hat{q}_{\tau\lambda}\chi_{j}(\tau, \alpha_{\nu}, B_{\tau}) \, \mathrm{d}\tau, \end{split}$$

$$(44)$$

where $k^{c} = k^{b} - k^{a}$. Assuming $k^{a} \approx k^{b}$ then k^{c} will be small and performing multipole expansions for k^{c} and k^{a} in Eq. (44) we find the first-order difference to be

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \pm \chi_i(\tau, \alpha_\mu, A_\tau) \mathrm{i} k_\tau^c \tau \hat{q}_{\tau\lambda} \chi_j(\tau, \alpha_\nu, B_\tau) \,\mathrm{d}\tau.$$
(45)

The first-order difference is therefore seen to be of first order in the transition moments for the multipole expansion and multiplied by a small number k^c . For the isotropically averaged oscillator strengths the difference is of second-order $(k^c)^2$. The result in Eq. (45) is, however, not so surprising since the *k*-vector first appears at the first order in the transition moments for the multipole expansion and the difference between two integrals with different *k*-vectors naturally must be there.

This suggests various level of approximation. The simplest idea, valid especially for intense dipole-allowed transition, is to simply neglect this difference by grouping all transitions within a small relative energy interval and using the same integral for all those transitions. As a first-order correction, the linearity in k^c in Eq. (45) can be used by computing the integrals for the first and last transition of the energy interval and perform a linear interpolation to estimate their value for all transition energies within that interval.

It is important to note that while this approximation is motivated by a multipole expansion, it is significantly more accurate than the conventional multipole expansion, as long as the energy interval, and thus k^c , is kept small. This provides the user with simple and powerful error control.

9. Connection with experiments

Absorption spectra are measured as the absorbance (*A*) versus the frequency (ν) of the electromagnetic radiation.^b The absorbance is defined as the decimal logarithm of the ratio of the incident intensity (I_0) and the transmitted intensity (I), and within a range, it is linear with respect to the molar concentration (*C*) and path length (l), the proportionality constant being the molar extinction coefficient (ε ; not to be confused with ε_0 , the vacuum permittivity):

$$A(\nu) = \log_{10} \frac{I_0(\nu)}{I(\nu)} = \varepsilon(\nu) Cl$$

The experimental cross section for a particular absorption band can be obtained by integrating the area in a ε vs ν representation:

$$\sigma^{\nu} = \frac{\ln 10}{N_{\rm A}} \int \varepsilon(\nu) \, \mathrm{d}\nu$$

from which the oscillator strength is obtained dividing by $\sigma_{\text{clas}}^{\nu}$, Eq. (5):

$$f = \frac{\sigma^{\nu}}{\sigma_{\text{clas}}^{\nu}} = \frac{4m_{\text{c}}\epsilon\epsilon_{0}}{N_{\text{A}}\epsilon^{2}} \ln 10 \int \epsilon(\nu) \,\mathrm{d}\nu$$

The factor in front of the integral has the value of 1.441×10^{-18} mol s m⁻² or 4.319×10^{-9} mol cm L⁻¹/(c cm⁻¹)

^b Other quantities to identify the electromagnetic radiation are also possible, like wavelength (λ), wave number ($\overline{\nu}$), angular frequency (ω) or photon energy (*E*); appropriate conversion factors would then need to be used in the following equations.

The computed oscillator strength (Eq. 6) becomes, within the dipole approximation and with isotropical averaging, in the velocity gauge (Eq. 32):

$$f_{\rm iso}^{p} = \frac{2}{3m_{\rm e}\Delta E_{0n}} |\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{p}} \rangle|^{2} = \frac{2}{3} \frac{m_{\rm e}}{\hbar^{2} e^{2}} \Delta E_{0n} |\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{\mu}}_{0n}^{p} \rangle|^{2}$$

and in the length gauge:

$$f_{\rm iso}^{\rm r} = \frac{2m_{\rm e}\Delta E_{0n}}{3\hbar^2} |\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{r}} \rangle|^2 = \frac{2}{3}\frac{m_{\rm e}}{\hbar^2 e^2} \Delta E_{0n} |\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{\mu}}_{0n} \rangle|^2,$$

where $\langle \boldsymbol{\mu} \rangle = -e \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{r}} \rangle$ and $\langle \boldsymbol{\mu}^p \rangle = -\frac{ie\hbar}{m_e \Delta E} \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{p}} \rangle$ are the transition dipole moment in length and velocity gauge, respectively.^c

From these, a dipole strength (*D*), representing $\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{\mu}}_{0n} \rangle^2$ or $\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{\mu}}_{0n}^p \rangle^2$, can be defined as:

$$D = \frac{3\hbar^2 e^2}{2m_e \Delta E_{0n}} f_{\rm iso} = \frac{3\hbar c \varepsilon_0}{\pi N_{\rm A}} \ln 10 \int \frac{\varepsilon(\nu)}{\nu} \, \mathrm{d}\nu,$$

where the approximation $\frac{1}{\nu_{0n}}\int \varepsilon d\nu \simeq \int \frac{\varepsilon}{\nu} d\nu$ has been used. The units of *D* are therefore those of an electric-dipole moment squared. The factor in front of the integral has the value of 1.022 C² mol or 9.186 × 10⁻³ D²/ (L mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹).

Circular dichroism is measured as a difference between absorbance of left- and right-circularly polarized radiation. Similarly to the above, a difference oscillator strength can be obtained by integration of a differential spectral band:

$$\Delta f = \frac{4m_{\rm e}c\varepsilon_0}{N_{\rm A}e^2} \ln 10 \int \Delta \varepsilon(\nu) \, \mathrm{d}\nu$$

In this case, the dipole approximation does not help, since that would trivially give $\Delta f = 0$. The first terms to contribute in the multipole expansion are the electric dipole–electric quadrupole and electric dipole–magnetic dipole, which results, after isotropically averaging, in:

$$\Delta f_{\rm iso}^p = \frac{4}{3m_e\hbar c} \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{p}} \rangle \cdot \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{r}} \times \hat{\boldsymbol{p}} \rangle = \frac{8m_e}{3\hbar^2 e^2 c} \Delta E_{0n} \operatorname{Im}(\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{\mu}}_{0n}^p \rangle \cdot \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{m}}_{0n}' \rangle)$$

^{*c*} In Ref. [12] the authors used the symbol μ^p for the imaginary quantity $\frac{c}{m_e} \sum_i p_i$, which does not have the dimensions of an electric-dipole moment.

for the velocity gauge, and for a mixed gauge:

$$\Delta f_{\rm iso}^{r,p} = -i \frac{4\Delta E_{0n}}{3\hbar^2 c} \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{r}} \rangle \cdot \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{r}} \times \hat{\boldsymbol{p}} \rangle = \frac{8m_{\rm e}}{3\hbar^2 e^2 c} \Delta E_{0n} \operatorname{Im}(\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{\mu}}_{0n} \rangle \cdot \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{m}}_{0n}' \rangle)$$

The rotatory strength (*R*) is defined to represent Im $(\langle \hat{\boldsymbol{\mu}}_{0n} \rangle \cdot \langle \hat{\boldsymbol{m}}'_{0n} \rangle)$, analogous to the dipole strength:

$$R = \frac{3\hbar^2 e^2 c}{8m_e \Delta E_{0n}} \Delta f_{\rm iso} = \frac{3\hbar c^2 \varepsilon_0}{4\pi N_{\rm A}} \ln 10 \int \frac{\Delta \varepsilon(\nu)}{\nu} \, \mathrm{d}\nu$$

The units of *R* are those of an electric dipole times a magnetic dipole. The factor in front of the integral has the value of 7.660×10^{-53} m s A² mol or 2.296 × 10^{-39} Fr cm erg G⁻¹/(L mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹). The reduced rotatory strength [*R*] is defined as:

$$[R] = \frac{100}{\mu_{\rm D}\mu_{\rm B}}R$$

where μ_D is a dipole of 1 D and μ_B is the Bohr magneton; in other words, [*R*] is the value of the rotatory strength in units of 10^{-2} D $\mu_B = 1.967 \times 10^{-3}$ au = 9.274 × 10⁻⁴¹ Fr cm erg G⁻¹.

Another commonly used measure of circular dichroism is the ellipticity. Linearly polarized light can be represented by a superposition of left- and right-circularly polarized waves with equal amplitudes. When linearly polarized light incides on an optically active medium, the left- and right-circularly polarized components are absorbed differently, as indicated by $\Delta \varepsilon(\nu)$, and the two components in the transmitted light do not have equal amplitude: it is elliptically polarized. The ellipticity angle (θ) is defined from the major and minor axes of the resulting ellipse, i.e.:

$$\tan\theta = \frac{A_0^{\rm R} - A_0^{\rm L}}{A_0^{\rm R} + A_0^{\rm L}},$$

where A_0^R and A_0^L are the magnitudes of the electric field vectors for the right- and left-circularly polarized components, θ is zero for linearly polarized light ($A_0^R = A_0^L$) and $\frac{\pi}{4} = 45$ degrees for circularly polarized light ($A_0^R = 0$) or $A_0^L = 0$). Note that although θ is an angle, it has no information about the rotation of the plane of polarization, which is associated with the phase change of the left and right components, but only on the fact that linearly polarized light becomes elliptically polarized. The difference in absorption is very small and θ can be approximated as $\tan \theta$ (in radians). As with absorbance, the ellipticity of the transmitted light is proportional to the

concentration and path length, so the molar ellipticity ($[\theta]$) is defined, and can be directly related to $\Delta \varepsilon$ (in degrees):

$$[\theta] = \frac{\theta}{Cl} \simeq \frac{\ln 10}{4} \frac{180}{\pi} \Delta \varepsilon$$

The factor has the value of 32.98 degrees. The units of ε are usually L mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹, while those of [θ] are more commonly degree cm² dmol⁻¹, which accounts for an additional factor of 100 normally found in conversion formulas.

10. Summary

In this chapter we have worked on the formalism for oscillator and rotatory strengths computed as transition properties in an approach based on explicitly expressed states.

The development of the formalism is based on the Jones vector approach to describe polarized light (where circular and linear polarized light are just two limits), and the use of the exact semiclassical operator describing the electromagnetic field of the interacting photon. Subsequently, this chapter discusses the origin, nature, and possible problems with different types of gauges-the velocity vs length gauge. This was followed by the introduction of the multipole expansion of the exponential expression for the electromagnetic field, which subsequently is subjected to a truncation. This chapter discusses the so-called selection rules, here both in the terminology of the conventional truncated multipole approach and also in terms of the exact operator along with the physical interpretation of the transitions. This chapter proceeds to derive the isotropic values for the oscillator and rotatory strengths. Furthermore, it is in some detail described how the integrals of the exact operator can be evaluated analytically in the Gauß-Hermite scheme. This was followed by a brief discussion of how the exact-operator approach can be substantially speeded up in the case of X-ray spectroscopy. Finally, the association between the experimentally observed quantities and the theory was presented.

Acknowledgments

Financial support was received from the Knut and Alice Wallenberg Foundation for the project "Strong Field Physics and New States of Matter" (Grant No. KAW-2013.0020), the Swedish Research Council (Grant No. 2016-03398), and Carl Trygger's Fundation grant CTS 18:226.

References

- Pecul, M.; Ruud, K. The Ab Initio Calculation of Optical Rotation and Electronic Circular Dichroism. In: Response Theory and Molecular Properties (A Tribute to Jan Linderberg and Poul Jørgensen), Jensen, H. J. Å. (Ed.), Advances in Quantum Chemistry; Vol. 50. Academic Press, 2005; pp 185–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-3276(05)50009-1.
- Kobe, D. H. Gauge-Invariant Resolution of the Controversy Over Length Versus Velocity Forms of the Interaction With Electric Dipole Radiation. *Phys. Rev. A* 1979, 19(1), 205–214. https://doi.org/10.1103/physreva.19.205.
- Roginsky, D. V. I.; Klapisch, M.; Cohen, M. Electric Dipole Oscillator Strengths: Length and Velocity! *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **1983**, *95*(6), 568–572. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0009-2614(83)80357-1.
- Bauschlicher, C. W.; Langhoff, S. R. Computation of Electronic Transition Moments: The Length Versus the Velocity Representation. *Theor. Chim. Acta* 1991, 79, 93–103. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01127098.
- Pawłowski, F.; Jørgensen, P.; Hättig, C. Gauge Invariance of Oscillator Strengths in the Approximate Coupled Cluster Triples Model CC3. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* 2004, 389(4), 413–420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cplett.2004.03.126.
- Pedersen, T. B.; Koch, H. Gauge invariance of the coupled cluster oscillator strength. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **1998**, *293*(3), 251–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0009-2614(98) 00722-2.
- Kongsted, J.; Pedersen, T. B.; Strange, M.; Osted, A.; Hansen, A. E.; Mikkelsen, K. V.; Pawlowski, F.; Jørgensen, P.; Hättig, C. Coupled Cluster Calculations of the Optical Rotation of S-Propylene Oxide in Gas Phase and Solution. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* 2005, 401(4), 385–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cplett.2004.11.082.
- Cormier, E.; Lambropoulos, P. Optimal Gauge and Gauge Invariance in Non-Perturbative Time-Dependent Calculation of Above-Threshold Ionization. J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 1996, 29(9), 1667–1680. https://doi.org/10.1088/0953-4075/29/9/013.
- Han, Y.-C.; Madsen, L. B. Comparison Between Length and Velocity Gauges in Quantum Simulations of High-Order Harmonic Generation. *Phys. Rev. A* 2010, *81*, 063430. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevA.81.063430.
- Ding, F.; Liang, W.; Chapman, C. T.; Isborn, C. M.; Li, X. On the Gauge Invariance of Nonperturbative Electronic Dynamics Using the Time-Dependent Hartree-Fock and Time-Dependent Kohn-Sham. J. Chem. Phys. 2011, 135(16), 164101. https://doi.org/ 10.1063/1.3655675.
- Sørensen, L. K.; Lindh, R.; Lundberg, M. Gauge Origin Independence in Finite Basis Sets and Perturbation Theory. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* 2017, 683, 536–542. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cplett.2017.05.003.
- Bernadotte, S.; Atkins, A. J.; Jacob, C. R. Origin-Independent Calculation of Quadrupole Intensities in X-Ray Spectroscopy. J. Chem. Phys. 2012, 137(20), 204106. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4766359.
- List, N. H.; Kauczor, J.; Saue, T.; Jensen, H. J.; Norman, P. Beyond the Electric-Dipole Approximation: A Formulation and Implementation of Molecular Response Theory for the Description of Absorption of Electromagnetic Field Radiation. J. Chem. Phys. 2015, 142(24), 244111. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4922697.
- Sørensen, L. K.; Kieri, E.; Srivastav, S.; Lundberg, M.; Lindh, R. Implementation of a Semiclassical Light-Matter Interaction Using the Gauss-Hermite Quadrature: A Simple Alternative to the Multipole Expansion. *Phys. Rev. A* 2019, *99*(1). 013419. https://doi. org/10.1103/physreva.99.013419.
- Sørensen, L. K.; Guo, M.; Lindh, R.; Lundberg, M. Applications to Metal K Pre-Edges of Transition Metal Dimers Illustrate the Approximate Origin Independence for the Intensities in the Length Representation. *Mol. Phys.* 2016, 115(1–2), 174–189. https://doi.org/10.1080/00268976.2016.1225993.

- Lestrange, J. P.; Egidi, F.; Li, X. The Consequences of Improperly Describing Oscillator Strengths Beyond the Electric Dipole Approximation. J. Chem. Phys. 2015, 143, 234103. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4937410.
- List, N. H.; Saue, T.; Norman, P. Rotationally Averaged Linear Absorption Spectra Beyond the Electric-Dipole Approximation. *Mol. Phys.* 2017, 115(1–2), 63–74. https://doi.org/10.1080/00268976.2016.1187773.
- Olsen, J.; Jørgensen, P. Linear and Nonlinear Response Function for an Exact State and for an MCSCF State. J. Chem. Phys. 1985, 82, 3235–3264. https://doi.org/ 10.1063/1.448223.
- Malmqvist, P.-Å.; Roos, B. O. The CASSCF State Interaction Method. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **1989**, *155*(2), 189–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/0009-2614(89)85347-3.
- Malmqvist, P. Å.; Roos, B. O.; Schimmelpfennig, B. The Restricted Active Space (RAS) state Interaction Approach With Spin-Orbit Coupling. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* 2002, 357, 230–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0009-2614(02)00498-0.
- Rosenfeld, L. Quantenmechanische Theorie der Natürlichen Optischen Aktivität von Flüssigkeiten und Gasen. Z. Phys. 1929, 52(3–4), 161–174. https://doi.org/10.1007/ bf01342393.
- Jones, R. C. A New Calculus for the Treatment of Optical Systems. V. A More General Formulation, and Description of Another Calculus. J. Opt. Soc. Am. 1947, 37(2), 107–110. https://doi.org/10.1364/JOSA.37.000107.
- Chen, J. C. Y. Off-Diagonal Hypervirial Theorem and Its Applications. J. Chem. Phys. 1964, 40(3), 615–621. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1725180.
- Crossley, R. J. S. The Calculation of Atomic Transition Probabilities. *Adv. At. Mol. Phys.* **1969**, *5*, 237–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0065-2199(08)60159-1.
- Wolinski, K.; Hinton, J. F.; Pulay, P. Efficient Implementation of the Gauge-Independent Atomic Orbital Method for NMR Chemical Shift Calculations. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112(23), 8251–8260. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00179a005.
- Ditchfield, R. Molecular Orbital Theory of Magnetic Shielding and Magnetic Susceptibility. J. Chem. Phys. 1972, 56(11), 5688–5691. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1677088.
- Ditchfield, R. Self-Consistent Perturbation Theory of Diamagnetism. *Mol. Phys.* 1974, 27(4), 789–807. https://doi.org/10.1080/00268977400100711.
- Bak, K. L.; Jørgensen, P.; Helgaker, T.; Ruud, K.; Jensen, H. J. Gauge-Origin Independent Multiconfigurational Self-Consistent-Field Theory for Vibrational Circular Dichroism. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98(11), 8873–8887. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.464445.
- Dalgaard, E. Comments on the Use of London's Field Dependent Orbitals. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **1977**, 47(2), 279–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/0009-2614(77)80017-1.
- Norman, P.; Ruud, K.; Saue, T. Principles and Practices of Molecular Properties: Theory, Modeling and Simulations. John Wiley & Sons, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118794821.
- Čársky, P.; Polášek, M. Evaluation of Molecular Integrals in a Mixed Gaussian and Plane-Wave Basis by Rys Quadrature. J. Comput. Phys. 1998, 143(1), 266–277. https://doi.org/10.1006/jcph.1998.5976.
- Polášek, M.; Čarsky, P. Efficient Evaluation of the Matrix Elements of the Coulomb Potential between Plane Waves and Gaussians. J. Comput. Phys. 2002, 181, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1006/jcph.2002.7124.
- Laporte, O.; Meggers, W. F. Some Rules of Spectral Structure. J. Opt. Soc. Am. 1925, 11(5), 459–463. https://doi.org/10.1364/JOSA.11.000459.
- Schipper, P. E.; Rodger, A. Generalized Selection Rules for Circular Dichroism: A Symmetry-Adapted Perturbation Model for Magnetic Dipole Allowed Transitions. *Chem. Phys.* **1986**, *109*(2-3), 173–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/0301-0104(86)87050-1.
- Hahn, J. E.; Scott, R. A.; Hodgson, K. O.; Doniach, S.; Desjardins, S. R.; Solomon, E. I. Observation of an Electric Quadrupole Transition in the X-ray Absorption Spectrum of A Cu(II) Complex. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **1982**, *88*(6), 595–598. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0009-2614(82)85016-1.

- Lebedev, V. I. Values of the Nodes and Weights of Ninth to Seventeenth Order Gauss-Markov Quadrature Formulae Invariant Under the Octahedron Group With Inversion. USSR Comput. Math. Math. Phys. 1975, 15(1), 44–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/0041-5553(75)90133-0.
- Lebedev, V. I. Quadratures on a Sphere. USSR Comput. Math. Math. Phys. 1976, 16(2), 10–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/0041-5553(76)90100-2.
- Lebedev, V. I. Spherical Quadrature Formulas Exact to Orders 25-29. Sib. Math. J. 1977, 18(1), 99–107. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00966954.
- 39. Lebedev, V. I.; Skorokhodov, A. L. Quadrature Formulas of Orders 41, 47, and 53 for the Sphere. *Russ. Acad. Sci. Dokl. Math.* **1992**, *45*, 587–592.
- Lebedev, V. I. A Quadrature Formula for the Sphere of 59th Algebraic Order of Accuracy. Russ. Acad. Sci. Dokl. Math. 1995, 50, 283–286.
- Lebedev, V. I.; Laikov, D. N. A Quadrature Formula for the Sphere of the 131st Algebraic Order of Accuracy. *Dokl. Math.* 1999, 59, 477–481.
- 42. Hansen, Aa. E.; Bak, K. L. Ab Initio Calculations and Display of Enantiomeric and Nonenantiomeric Anisotropic Circular Dichroism: The Lowest π → π* Excitation in Butadiene, Cyclohexadiene, and Methyl-Substituted Cyclohexadienes. J. Phys. Chem. A 2000, 104(48), 11362–11370. https://doi.org/10.1021/jp001899+.
- Lehtola, J.; Hakala, M.; Sakko, A.; Hämäläinen, K. ERKALE-A Flexible Program Package for X-ray Properties of Atoms and Molecules. J. Comput. Chem. 2012, 33(18), 1572–1585. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcc.22987.
- Füsti-Molnar, L.; Pulay, P. Accurate Molecular Integrals and Energies Using Combined Plane Wave and Gaussian Basis Sets in Molecular Electronic Structure Theory. J. Chem. Phys. 2002, 116(18), 7795–7805. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1467901.
- London, F. Théorie Quantique des Courants Interatomiques dans les Combinaisons Aromatiques. J. Phys. Radium 1937, 8(10), 397–409. https://doi.org/10.1051/jphysrad: 01937008010039700.
- McWeeny, R. Ring Currents and Proton Magnetic Resonance in Aromatic Molecules. Mol. Phys. 1958, 1(4), 311–321. https://doi.org/10.1080/00268975800100381.
- Irons, T. J. P.; Zemen, J.; Teale, A. M. Efficient Calculation of Molecular Integrals Over London Atomic Orbitals. J. Chem. Theory Comput. 2017, 13(8), 3636–3649. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.jctc.7b00540.
- Devaney, A. J.; Wolf, E. Multipole Expansions and Plane Wave Representations of the Electromagnetic Field. J. Math. Phys. 1974, 15(2), 234–244. https://doi.org/ 10.1063/1.1666629.
- Malmqvist, P. Å. Calculation of Transition Density Matrices by Nonunitary Orbital Transformations. Int. J. Quantum Chem. 1986, 30(4), 479–494. https://doi.org/10.1002/ qua.560300404.
- McMurchie, L. E.; Davidson, E. R. One-and Two-Electron Integrals Over Cartesian Gaussian Functions. J. Chem. Phys. 1978, 26(2), 218–231. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0021-9991(78)90092-X.
- Tellgren, E. I.; Soncini, A.; Helgaker, T. Nonperturbative Ab Initio Calculations in Strong Magnetic Fields Using London Orbitals. J. Chem. Phys. 2008, 129(15), 154114. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2996525.